PATRICK D. COLEMAN

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAUDERDALE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

(Oral Argument Requested)

PREPARED BY:

ERIC J. HESSLER, MSB NO.
ATTORNEY AT LAW
2104 8TH STREET
MERIDIAN, MS 39301
TELEPHONE (601) 553-9900
FACSIMILE (601) 553-9969

PATRICK D. COLEMAN

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The issues in this appeal are as follows;

- (1) Did the trial court err and commit reversible error by failing to hold a competency hearing to determine whether or not the defendant was competent to stand trial?
- (2) Whether or not it is probable that but for the trial counsel's deficient and ineffective performance, the verdict in this matter would have been different?

PATRICK D. COLEMAN

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 20, 2008 Patrick Detoya Coleman and Richard Luther Coburn III were indicted for Murder/Manslaughter of Fredrick Lee Pruitt. The indictment alleged the death, which occurred by shooting, happened on November 28, 2007.

On July 5, 2008 attorney Wanda Abioto filed a notice of appearance in this matter, inadvertently referring to the Defendant by the erroneous name of "Brandon Gillon"

On November 24, 2008 Attorney Abioto filed a Motion for Psychiatric Examination and/or Treatment.

On January 14, 2009 this Order for Mental evaluation was granted by the Court.

On March 23, 2009 Attorney Abioto filed a Motion for Continuance stating, among other things, that the Defendant was still awaiting the Court ordered evaluation. The continuance was granted but a handwritten notation was added stating that, "This case is set for trial June 1, 2009, failure of defense counsel to appear at 9:00 am on trial date will be considered by the Court as Direct Criminal Contempt".

No other Motions or correspondence appear in the record until June 2, 2009 where in Attorney Abioto filed the following Motions and/or correspondence;

1. Notice of insanity defense.

- 2. Reciprocal Discovery request of Defendant, Patrick Coleman
- 3. Motion for mistrial and reinstatement of Motion for Competency Hearing pursuant to Rule 9.05 of the uniform circuit and County Court Rules.
- 4. Affidavits of Shundobie Coleman and attorney Wanda Abioto.
- 5. Five (5) Defense Jury instructions (four (4) of which were withdrawn and one (1) which was refused.

On June 2, 2009, the Jury returned a verdict against the Defendant, finding him guilty of Murder. At no time prior to this trial was a hearing ever held to determine the competency of the defendant to stand trial, despite the courts order granting the mental evaluation of the defendant on this issue.

On June 12, 2009 attorney Abioto filed a Motion for a new trial or in the alternative for Judgment notwithstanding the verdict. This Motion set forth fourteen (14) reasons in support of the Motion.

On August 7, 2009 the Court signed an Order in this case overruling the Motion for a new trial or J.N.O.V. This Appeal follows.

PATRICK D. COLEMAN

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Appellant contends that the trial court erred in not requiring that a hearing be held in regards to the defendant's ability to know the nature and quality of his alleged acts or his ability to know that those alleged acts would have been wrong at the time he committed those acts as well as his competency to stand trial and /or assist in his defense. By failing to hold such a hearing the Trial Court committed reversible error by abusing its discretion.

This abuse of discretion resulted in the substantial rights of the defendant to be detrimentally affected. Additionally, by not conducting such a hearing, the Trial Court ignored the mandatory language Rule 9.06 U.C.C.R., and prevented the defendant from presenting any competing evidence to the ruling of the Court.

Furthermore, the Appellant contends that his Trial Counsel's performance was ineffective for the following reasons:

- By failing to conduct the necessary and basic pretrial investigation into this matter, nor developing a theory of defense, although many were available.
- 2. By failing to file any pretrial motions in this matter, although many were applicable.
- 3. By not preparing the defendant to testify or consult with him about the case.

PATRICK D. COLEMAN

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

ARGUMENT OF APPELLANT WITH SUPPORTING AUTHORITIES

I. Did the trial court err and commit reversible error by failing to hold a competency hearing to determine whether or not the defendant was competent to stand trial?

The well founded standard of review for the admission or exclusion of evidence in Mississippi is abuse of discretion. *Troupe v. McAuley*, 955 So.2d 848, 855 (Miss. 2007) citing *Poole v. Avara*, 908 So.2d 716 (Miss. 2005). A trial Judge, therefore, "enjoys a great deal of discretion as to the relevancy and admissibility of evidence unless the Judge abuses this discretion so as to be prejudicial to the accused, the Court will not reverse this ruling." *Shaw v. State*, 915 So.2d 442, 445 (Miss 2005) (citing *Jefferson v. State*, 818 So.2d 1099, 1104 (Miss. 2002). Reversal is proper only where such discretion has been abused and a substantial right of the party has been affected. *Johnson v. State*, 666 So.2d 499, 503 (Miss.1995) citing *Green v. State*, 614 So.2d 926, 932 (Miss.1992).

In the case before this Honorable Court, the defendant, Patrick Coleman, by and through his attorney or record Wanda Abioto, filed a Motion for Psychiatric Examination and/or Treatment. This motion was properly filed on November 24, 2008. (See Record Vol.1, p. 21) After considering the facts and circumstances set forth in the motion, the Honorable Judge Lester Williamson signed an order granting this motion on the same

day, November 24, 2008, ordering that such an examination be conducted. The purpose of the order was to determine (a) whether or not he (the defendant) had a factual as well as rationale understanding of the nature and object of the legal proceedings against him, and had the ability reasonably to assist his attorney in the preparation of his defense, and (b) to describe his (the defendant's) mental state at the time of the alleged offense(s) with respect to his ability to know the difference between right and wrong in relation to his actions at that time. (See Record Vol. 1 p. 23).

On January 14, 2009 a second order for mental evaluation and treatment was granted by the Trial Judge, this time declaring the defendant indigent and ordering that the County of Lauderdale, Mississippi bear the costs of such evaluation. (See Record Vol. I, p. 30). Based on information gleaned from the trial court transcript, it appears the mental evaluation report was received by the court on May 18, 2009, approximately ten days before the June 1 trial date of the defendant. (See Trial Transcript Vol. 1, p.11, lines 25-27). It should be noted that at no time prior to the June 1, 2009 trial date does it appear that this report was filed into the record.

On the morning of June 1, 2009 Attorney Abioto appeared in the Chambers of the Honorable Judge Lester Williamson. The matter was called to trial and Attorney Abioto timely requested a continuance of the trail in order that a competency hearing be held in accordance with the Rule 9.06 Uniform Circuit Court Rule as it applies to such hearings. Attorney Abioto specifically asserted the rights of the defendant to have a hearing in such a matter, as well as identified the defendant's mental condition as being a "major part of his defense". (See Trial Transcript VOI. 1, pp.5-7, line 9). The trail court refused the continuance, and refused to hold such a hearing. Additionally the court indicated that by

not asking for such a hearing the court considered the issue to have been waived by the defense attorney. (See Record Vol. 1, pp11-12, lines 29-2). The court then proceeded to trail without holding a hearing to determine competency. (See Trial Transcipt Vol. 1, p. 11-12, line 13). Due to the denial of the hearing, at no time during did any witness testify or offer evidence as to the defendant's state of mind or his competency to stand trial, nor was the defendant able to put forth his defense of insanity.

Rule 9.06 of the Uniform Circuit Court Rules, entitled Competence to Stand Trial, states, in pertinent part that;

If before or during trial the court, of its own motion or upon the motion of an attorney, has reasonable grounds to believe that the defendant is incompetent to stand trial, the court shall order the defendant to submit to a mental examination by some competent psychiatrist selected by the court in accordance with 99-13-11 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972.

After examination, the court shall conduct a hearing to determine if the defendant is competent to stand trial. After hearing all the evidence the court, the court shall weigh the evidence and make a determination of whether the defendant is competent to stand trial. If the court finds the defendant is competent to stand trial, then the court shall make the finding a matter of record and the case will then proceed to trial.

Furthermore, Rule 9.06 states:

The defendant's attorney, as the defendant's representative shall not waive any hearing authorized by this rule, but is authorized to consent, on behalf of the defendant, to necessary surgical or medical treatment and procedures.

The plain language of Rule 9.06 makes it quite clear that once a court ordered mental evaluation is completed, the necessity to hold a competency hearing to determine the defendant's competency to stand trial is mandatory and not discretionary. In emphasizing how important this right is to the defendant's

due process rights, the rule strictly prohibits the defendant's own defense attorney from waiving any such hearing, for any reason.

This Honorable Court faced a very similar situation in Sanders v. State, 9 So.2d 1132 (Miss. 2009). In Sanders, this Court emphasized the mandatory nature of the rule, and stated "In the face of this plain language, it is evident that it would be error not to hold a competency hearing once a trial court orders a psychiatric evaluation to determine competency to stand trial." Furthermore, the court, in refusing to hold an on the record hearing in which the defense could offer competing evidence, also opined that the defense had "waived" that right by failing to ask for it.

The trial courts position on this issue is also clearly erroneous and an abuse of discretion when viewed in the light of the equally clear language which strictly prohibits such waiving of any hearing authorized by the rule, i.e. the on the record competency hearing. The *Sanders* Court further addressed the absolute right of the defendant to offer competing evidence regarding the issue of competency to stand trial in the case of when it distinguished this matter from the case of *Hearn v. State*, 3 So.2d (Miss.2008).

In *Hearn*, the lower court failed to hold an on the record hearing on the issue of competency, and thus violated Rule 9.06 in it strictest sense. This Honorable Court, however, recognized that the purpose of Rule 9.06 was satisfied by the trial testimony of one of the examining physicians and two medical witnesses who testified as to the defendant's competency to stand trial. These witnesses were subject to cross examination and the defense had the ability to

offer competing evidence. The *Hearn's* Court thus held that the failure under such circumstances was not reversible error.

The instant case, however, is identical to Sanders in that no hearing was held, and no witness's were called nor evidence offered to establish an on the record finding regarding the issue of competency to stand trial. The Trial Court in fact, abused its discretion and erroneously held that the defendant waived the mandated hearing. This abuse of discretion and the failure to have a hearing such as that mandated by Rule 9.06 U.C.C.R. resulted in a violation of the substantial rights of the defendant to be detrimentally affected and violated the defendant's right to due process and a fair trial. Additionally, by not conducting such a hearing, the Trial Court ignored the mandatory language Rule 9.06 U.C.C.R., violated the defendant's 6th Amendments rights of confrontation of witnesses against him, and prevented the defendant from presenting any competing evidence to the ruling of the Court. Simply put, at the end of the trial it had yet to be effectively established that the defendant was competent to stand trial.

II. Whether or not it is probable that but for the trial counsel's deficient and ineffective performance, the verdict in this matter would have been different?

The standard for ineffective assistance of counsel is well settled law and is set out in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 688 (1984). The *Strickland* test is two pronged. The appellant must first show that the counsel's performance was deficient. The second prong requires the appellant to show that if the attorney's representation was deficient, is there a reasonable probability that but for the deficiency the verdict would have been different?

The Appellant contends that there are numerous occurrences and omissions which support the position that the performance of the trial attorney was deficient. A review of the entire trial transcript reveals a clear lack of preparation and/or trial strategy. The defense attorney in this matter did develop the defense a theory of defense, and if she did, it appears as if such a theory was not apparent or established to the trial judge's satisfaction. In support of this the defendant refers to the denial of defense jury instructions regarding self defense. In denying this defense instruction the trial court stated he did not think "on this record a self defense instruction is justified and I am not going to give it". (Trial Transcript, Vol.II, p. 290, lines18-20).

The defense attorney also requested a defense jury instruction regarding the lesser and included charge of manslaughter, which the court also refused to give. In doing so the trial court judge stated, once again "I don't think in this case on this record a manslaughter defense is justified either, and I am not going to give it." (*Trial Transcript*, p. 297, lines 12-14).

The failure of the defense attorney to put forth a theory of defense was also apparent to the prosecuting attorney who tried the case for the State. This much was made quite succinctly during the a colloquy regarding proposed jury instructions. In making the argument against certain proposed defense jury instructions the prosecutor stated ""But from the very beginning, at least I thought, they (the defense) were claiming self defense. Now they are saying it is not an intentional act. I don't know what their defense is to be honest with you, Judge." The failure of the defense to put on a defense theory was obviously most apparent to the jury, who returned a conviction for murder in this matter.

Their was also ineffective assistance of counsel in this matter by trial counsels failure to file any pre-trial motions in this matter, especially one in which defendant, one whom she believed to be in need of a mental examination, gave a confession in this matter. Under such circumstances due diligence and sufficient performance would require such a motion be filed prior to trial. The record reveals no such filing and the confession was admitted in without objection. The failure to file such a motion was compounded by the obvious lack of strategy and preparation.

The lack of preparation and strategy was also made evident during the trial when in response to the colloquy from the trial judge, the defendant made known his choice not to testify, and that this was his choice. When questioned by the judge, Attorney Abioto stated she had counseled the defendant but maintained her belief he was not competent to do so. Defendant Coleman clearly indicated his wish was not to testify in his defense. (See Trial Transcript, pp.196-199). Within thirty (30) minutes of this announcement Defendant Coleman announced that he would in fact testify in his defense at trial. (Trial Transcript, p. 213, lines 21-29). Defendant Coleman then did take the stand and testify in this matter.

The defendant has attached to this brief a sworn affidavit in this matter in which he attest that his hired attorney spent no more than one (1) hour with him in preparation for this trial. He indicates these meetings took place only during preset court dates and the facts of the case were never discussed. Additionally, Defendant Coleman states his attorney did not inform him of a lesser plea offer to manslaughter or prepare him in any way to testify at trial. He indicated he was only told at the end of his trial that she (his attorney) believed it was necessary for him to do so. Lastly, the defendant stated that at

no time was he aware of any defense strategy, theory or any other elements of the case. (See attached Exhibit 1).

Attorney Abioto was clearly unprepared for the trial in this matter and was thus her performance was ineffective and deficient in that no cohesive defense was put forth, nor even developed. The Appellant submits that he first prong of the Strickland test has been met. It logically follows then, that when a defense attorney fails, because of deficient performance, to develop a defense strategy before trial that it is reasonably likely, given the facts of this case, that a different verdict would have been likely. The second prong of the Strickland test has therefore been met. As such the defendant has been prejudiced and this prejudice resulted in his conviction for murder.

CONCLUSION

It is clear and uncontested that the defendant did not receive an on the record hearing in regards to his competency to stand trial. This Court's ruling in *Sanders* makes it abundantly clear that Rule 9.06 mandates that such a hearing take place after an order granting a psychiatric examination for such be such and that the defendant be given a chance to offer competing evidence of any such ruling adverse to the defendant. It clear that the defense attorney cannot waive such a hearing, and that a denial of such a hearing is an abuse of discretion, clearly erroneous and thus, reversible error. There was no testimony offered or elicited at trial which would otherwise serve the purpose of Rule 9.06, nor was the defendant offered the opportunity to introduce competing evidence to any such testimony or to confront those witnesses against him.

The denial by the trial court of such a hearing substantially and detrimentally affected the due process rights of the defendant and denied him the right to a fair trial.

Additionally for the aforementioned reasons, the performance of the trial attorney was ineffective as it relates to the performance of the trial attorney. But for this ineffective performance, it is reasonably likely the verdict would have been different. The *Strickland* standard has therefore been met.

For the reasons and arguments cited above, it is respectfully prayed that the conviction of the Appellant, Patrick D. Coleman, should be reversed and the case be remanded to Circuit Court for proceedings consistent with this appeal.