IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PATRICK COLEMAN

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-1350-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Although the trial court did not conduct a competency hearing after ordering a mental evaluation, the purpose of URCCCP Rule 9.06 was satisfied by the trial court's on-the-record determination that Coleman was competent to stand trial, where such decision was based on the mental evaluation report which is part of the record. Should this Court disagree and find reversal is warranted, the State would ask the Court to consider the alternate relief of reversing for a *nunc pro tunc* competency hearing. Although such a remedy has not been utilized in Mississippi, all federal courts and many state courts utilize *nunc pro tunc* competency hearings where appropriate.

Coleman's ineffective assistance of counsel claim is not supported by the record. Coleman fails to meet either *Strickland* prong with his allegations.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF COLEMAN'S MOTION FOR A CONTINUANCE TO SUBPOENA UNNAMED WITNESSES FOR A COMPETENCY HEARING ON THE MORNING OF TRIAL AFTER THE JURY VENIRE HAD BEEN SEATED IS NOT REVERSIBLE ERROR WHERE THE PURPOSE OF RULE 9.06 WAS SATISFIED.

A trial court's determination that a defendant is competent to stand trial will not be disturbed on appeal unless the finding is "manifestly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." *Hearn v. State*, 3 So. 3d 722, 728 (¶14) (Miss. 2008) (quoting *Martin v. State*, 871 So.2d 693, 698 (Miss. 2004)). A defendant is competent to stand trial if he can understand the nature of the proceedings, communicate with his attorney about the case, recall relevant facts, testify in his own defense if he so chooses, and "satisfy the foregoing criteria [] commensurate with the severity of the case." *Id.* at (¶15). While Rule 9.06 of the Uniform Rules of County and Circuit Court Practice provides that if the trial court orders a mental evaluation it must subsequently conduct a competency hearing, Mississippi case law provides that in certain situations, the purpose of the Rule 9.06 can be satisfied without strict compliance.

Coleman relies on *Sanders v. State*, 9 So. 3d 1132 (Miss. 2009), to support his position that reversal is required because a competency hearing was not held after a mental evaluation was ordered.² *Sanders*, however, is distinguishable from the present case. In *Sanders*, the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed a murder conviction because after the trial court ordered a mental evaluation,

²The Appellant also confuses the issue of competency to stand trial and an insanity defense where he claims in his brief that the denial of the competency hearing prevented him from putting on an insanity defense. Appellant's Brief at 10. Clearly, the denial of the competency hearing had no bearing on Coleman's ability to present an insanity defense. Coleman was precluded from putting on an insanity defense because he failed to comply with Rule 9.07 of the Uniform Rules of County and Circuit Court procedure which provides that a written notice of insanity defense must be filed prior to trial. Defense counsel first alerted the trial court and the prosecuting attorney that she would proceed with an insanity defense on the second day of trial after the State rested. T. 188-89.

no competency hearing was held, the trial court made no on-the-record determination that Sanders was competent to stand trial, nor was there any evidence in the record to support a finding that Sanders was competent to stand trial. *Id.* at 1137, 1139 (¶17,25). First, the present case is distinguishable from Sanders because the trial court in the present case made a determination, based on the results of the mental evaluation, that Coleman was competent to stand trial. The present case is also distinguishable from Sanders because in the present case although there was no strict compliance with Rule 9.06, the purpose of the rule was satisfied by the trial court's reliance on the mental evaluation which is part of the record on appeal. The Sanders court made clear that strict compliance with Rule 9.06 is not necessary when the purpose of Rule 9.06 is satisfied. *Id.* at 1137 (¶¶19-20). For example, where a mental evaluation is ordered and no competency hearing is held, the purpose of Rule 9.06 is satisfied if at trial a qualified witness is examined regarding the defendant's competence to stand trial. *Id.* (citing *Hearn* at 730 (¶19)). The *Sanders* opinion also strongly suggests that where the trial court's finding that the defendant is competent to stand trial is based on the results of a mental evaluation which is made part of the record, the purpose of Rule 9.06 is met. The following language from Sanders supports this position.

The record lacks any testimony that relates to Sanders' competence to stand trial. The docket indicates that Dr. Webb did file a report with the trial court. However, the report was not entered into evidence and was not part of the record on appeal. Therefore, this Court is unable to review the report and Dr. Webb's opinion, if any, as to Sanders's competency to stand trial. One may argue or speculate that the appellate record before us today was sufficient to assume that Sanders was competent to stand trial. However, we reiterate the fact that the appellate record before us contains no evidence that Sanders was found to be competent to stand trial. At a minimum, there was no definitive testimony or report that determined Sanders competent to stand trial.

Id. at 1139 (¶25).

The Mississippi Supreme Court again suggested in Jay v. State, 25 So. 3d 257 (Miss. 2010),

the only post-Sanders case thus far that has considered the issue at hand, that where a report of the defendant's mental evaluation which states that a defendant is competent to stand trial is relied on by the trial court and made part of the record, the purpose of Rule 9.06 is met. In Jay, the defendant sustained a traumatic brain injury while awaiting trial. Id. at 258 (\$5). One week before trial, defense counsel filed a motion for continuance, claiming that Jay was not competent to stand trial due to the injury. Id. at (¶6). Attached to the motion was a letter from a doctor, the Director of the Brain Injury Program at Methodist Rehabilitation Center, who opined that Jay was "unable to participate in any court proceedings at this time' due to his injuries." Id. The trial court then ordered a court appointed psychiatrist to conduct a psychiatric evaluation of Jay to determine whether he was competent to stand trial. Id. at (¶7). No competency hearing was held, and the psychiatrist's report was not filed with the court until two days after the trial commenced. Id. at (98). As it turns out, the result of the report was that the examining psychiatrist found that Jay was competent to stand trial. Id. at 259 (\{ 8\}). Because there was neither strict compliance with Rule 9.06 nor had the purpose of the rule been met, Jay's conviction was reversed and the case was remanded for a new trial subject to a determination of whether Jay was competent to stand trial. Id. at 263, 264 (¶¶34-35, 40). However, the Jay court stated the following which suggests that the purpose of Rule 9.06 would have been met had there been evidence in the record that the trial court found Jay competent to stand trial based on a review of the psychiatrist's report.

There is no indication in the record that the trial judge ever read or considered [the report]. Dr. Webb's report concluded that Jay was 'competent to stand trial.' Thus, the court file contained conflicting opinions as to whether Jay was competent to stand trial. We have no way of knowing whether the trial judge considered the two opinions and found Dr. Webb's opinion more persuasive, or simply failed to hold a hearing to consider the matter.

Id. at 262 (¶27).

Both Sanders and Jay explicitly acknowledge that where a mental evaluation is ordered, but no subsequent competency hearing is held prior to trial, reversal is not required where "the purposes of Rule 9.06 were satisfied." Sanders at 1137 (¶20); Jay at 263 (¶34). So far, the only example we have of what satisfies the purpose of Rule 9.06 other than a competency hearing is where the psychiatrist who conducted the mental evaluation testifies at trial regarding the defendant's competence to stand trial. Id. (both citing Hearn v. State, 3 So. 3d 722 (Miss. 2008). However, both Sanders and Jay suggest that a trial court's determination that a defendant is competent to stand trial which is based on the mental evaluation report which is made part of the record satisfies the purpose of Rule 9.06. Because the trial court's determination that Coleman was competent to stand trial was based on the mental evaluation report which is in the record, the State submits that the purpose of Rule 9.06 has been satisfied.

However, should this honorable Court find that the purpose of Rule 9.06 was not satisfied, the State would ask the Court to remand for a *nunc pro tunc* competency hearing rather than reverse and remand for a new trial. Although such a procedure has not yet been utilized in Mississippi cases, all federal courts and many states allow *nunc pro tunc* competency hearings on remand. See *Edwards v. State*, 902 N.E. 2d. 821, 826 fn3 (Ind. 2009) (listing cases from the First through Eleventh Circuits which allowed the district courts on remand to conduct *nunc pro tunc* competency hearings where appropriate.).³ In recognizing that retrospective competency hearings are not always a viable option, the Fifth Circuit has "repeatedly sanctioned *nunc pro tunc* proceedings where there is sufficient data available to guarantee reliability." *Wheat v. Thigpen*, 793 F.2d 621, 630 (5th Cir.1986) (quoting *United States v. Makris*, 535 F.2d 899, 904 (5th Cir.1976)). Some factors that courts consider in

³Although not mentioned in Edwards, the D.C. Circuit also allows for *nunc pro tunc* competency hearings. *Heard v. U.S.*, 390 F.2d 866, 868-869 (DC Cir. 1968).

determining whether a meaningful *nunc pro tunc* competency hearing can be held are:

(1)the passage of time, (2) the availability of contemporaneous medical evidence, including medical records and prior competency determinations, (3) any statements by the defendant in the trial record, and (4) the availability of individuals and trial witnesses, both experts and non-experts, who were in a position to interact with defendant before and during trial, including the trial judge, counsel for both the government and defendant, and jail officials.

Edwards, 902 N.E. 2d.at 826. See also State v. Juniors, 918 So.2d 1137, 1145, (La. Ct. App. 2005); Caballero v. State, 587 S.W.2d 741, 743 (Tex. Cr. App. 1979); Wheat, 793 F.3d at 630.. Additionally, "Mental examinations conducted close to the trial date, of course, increase the probability that the nunc pro tunc hearing will not be unduly speculative." U.S. v. Makris, 535 F.2d 899, 904-05 (5th Cir. 1976) (citing Holloway v. United States, 343 F.2d 265 (D.C. Cir. 1964)).

In the present case, only one year and three months have passed since Coleman's trial. Coleman's mental evaluation was conducted just two months prior to trial. During the mental evaluation, the examining psychiatrist and psychologists reviewed Coleman's medical, school, and criminal records and statements from Coleman's defense attorney and other acquaintances. All of this information would still be available for consideration at a *nunc pro tunc* competency hearing. The doctors who conducted the evaluation and the individuals who gave statements regarding Coleman's competency could testify. Coleman could put on defense counsel and any friends and family with whom he interacted prior to and during trial. Coleman's own trial testimony and pretrial statements could be examined. A retrospective competency hearing is a viable option in the present case because there is sufficient evidence of Coleman's mental state at the time of trial on which to base a subsequent competency determination. Accordingly, should the Court find that reversal is

⁴Coleman's trial commenced on June 1, 2009, and the report from the mental evaluation shows that Coleman was examined on April 1, 2009.

required, the State asks the Court to consider this alternative relief.

II. COLEMAN DID NOT RECEIVE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Although this Court is not prohibited from considering claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal, Coleman's claim of ineffective assistance should be brought in a post-conviction relief proceeding where he will have the benefit of affidavits to support his claim. Appellate courts considering ineffective assistance of counsel claims on direct appeal are limited to "the four corners of the record." *McGregory v. State*, 979 So.2d 12, 21 (¶29) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). As it stands, the record does not show ineffective assistance of constitutional proportions, and the State will not stipulate that the record is adequate to support Coleman's claim. *Fannings v. State*, 997 So.2d 953, 965 (¶37) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). The very fact that Coleman has improperly attached an affidavit to his brief in an attempt to support his claim of ineffective assistance shows that his claim cannot be decided on the record. Because the bulk of Coleman's allegations of ineffective assistance involve alleged inaction by defense counsel, Coleman's claim should be presented in a motion for post-conviction relief where he will have the benefit of affidavits to attempt to support his claim. *Robinson v. State*, 25 So.3d 1084, 1086 (¶12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2010).

Should the Court address Coleman's claim of ineffective assistance on direct appeal, the State would offer the following to show that the record does not support a finding that defense counsel rendered constitutionally deficient performance. Coleman complains that defense counsel's failure to do the following constitutes ineffective assistance: have the trial court grant instructions on self-defense and manslaughter, present a defense, and file a motion to suppress his confession.

To succeed on his claim of ineffective assistance, Coleman carries the very high burden of demonstrating that defense counsel's performance was deficient, and the deficient performance prejudiced the outcome of the trial. *Leatherwood v. State*, 473 So.2d 964, 968-69 (Miss. 1985))

(citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)).

The trial court refused Coleman's self-defense and manslaughter instructions as having no evidentiary foundation. T. 290, 297. That there is no record support for the granting of an instruction can in no way be deficient performance. Defense counsel can only work with the available facts. The record paints only one picture: Coleman shot an unarmed man to death because the victim may have exchanged words with Coleman's wife earlier that morning. Coleman was not entitled to either a self-defense or manslaughter instruction because there was no evidentiary foundation for either, not because defense counsel rendered constitutionally deficient performance.

Coleman claims that defense counsel presented no defense. However, it is clear from closing argument that the defense was that the State failed to prove deliberate design. T. 316, 317, 318, 322. That defense counsel could not create another defense from whole cloth does not render her assistance constitutionally defective.

Coleman also alleges that it was ineffective for defense counsel to not file a motion to suppress his confession. However, counsel's decision on whether or not to file certain motions "falls within the ambit of trial strategy," and cannot give rise to a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Scott v. State*, 742 So.2d 1190, 1196 (¶14) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). Further, Coleman fails to even suggest an argument for exclusion of his confession, and there is no basis in the record for exclusion of the confession.

Finally, Coleman references the fact that he initially informed the trial court after the State rested that he would not testify, but later changed his mind. How this is relevant to his claim of ineffective assistance is unclear. Coleman exercised his right to testify on his own behalf after being twice informed by the court that it was his decision to make. T. 196, 216. Twice, Coleman stated on the record that he had consulted with defense counsel regarding whether or not he should testify.

T. 196, 216. Defense counsel informed the court that she had explained the pros and cons of testifying to Coleman. T. 216. Coleman fails to show how his decision to testify on his own behalf constitutes deficient performance.

Coleman fails to meet either *Strickland* prong in his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

Accordingly, his second issue necessarily fails.